FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
12/17/2021 1:36 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/20/2021
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>100492-3</u> Court of Appeals No. 81865-1-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

VILLA MARINA ASSOCIATION OF APARTMENT OWNERS,

Plaintiff/Petitioner,

v.

JOHN E. COLLINS, Jr., a/k/a JAKE E. COLLINS, Jr.,

Defendant/Respondent,

VILLA MARINA ASSOCIATION OF APARTMENT OWNERS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

Stephen M. Smith, WSBA No. 42021 Of Attorneys for Petitioners Villa Marina Assn. of Apt. Owners

SOUND LEGAL PARTNERS, PLLC 6161 NE 175th St., Ste 205 Kenmore, WA 98028 206-823-1038

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Villa Marina Association of Apartment Owners ("Association"), plaintiff at the trial court and respondents at the Court of Appeals, ask this Court to accept review of the decisions identified in Part II below.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Association asks this Court to accept review of (1) the October 4, 2021 decision by Division I of the Court of Appeals, which reversed King County Superior Court's order granting the Association's motion for summary judgment as to all issues; and (2) Division I's order denying reconsideration on November 18, 2021. See Appendices A and B.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether this Court should accept review in order to reverse the decisions of Division I, where Division I's decisions discourages settlement and erodes long-standing authority regarding finality of judgments of this Court and Washington's Courts of Appeals in at least two ways:

- 1. Division I's decisions in this case permitted a collateral attack on a final judgment to which both parties had already previously stipulated, which policy would affect all Washington litigants and discourage settlements; and
- 2. Division I's decisions in this case disregarded the doctrines of claim preclusion and issue preclusion in a manner which, again, implicates the finality of judgments for all Washington citizens.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from Defendant John E. Collins, Jr. a/k/a Jake E. Collins, Jr.'s ("Collins") failure to pay monthly condominium association assessments owed to the Association for amounts that accrued after the parties had settled an earlier delinquency in 2017. Prior to the current lawsuit, the Association filed suit against Collins for failure to pay assessments in 2016 (the "2016 Lawsuit"). CP 220 ¶6 & 334-39. The 2016 complaint set forth the amount of the debt as of December 22, 2016 was \$9,384.71 and that the Association was entitled to "any regular or special assessments, fees, interest,

and attorneys' fees and costs which become due before entry of judgment..." CP 337 ¶11.1 (emphasis added).

To resolve the 2016 Lawsuit, the Association's attorneys provided a detailed payoff statement to Collins' attorney ("Payoff"). CP 220 ¶7 & 341-345. The Payoff set forth the outstanding balance of \$12,006.86, which was "good through February 7, 2017", provided an itemization of all charges through February 7, 2017, stated that upon receipt of "full payment, all association liens will be released, and our files closed", and set forth the "fee to dismiss lawsuit" and release the *lis pendens* recorded against the property. *Id.*; see also CP 488 ¶5 (noting that the Association's attorneys naturally had not yet billed its client for certain amounts set forth in the Payoff until the following months once work such as filing lien releases occurred).

Collins, in his own declaration, acknowledged receipt of the Payoff and that he tendered the demanded amount to settle the 2016 Lawsuit. CP 407 (Collins stating "rather than pay attorneys' fees [to continue disputing the claim], I made the business decision to settle the lawsuit. I paid the Association what it demanded, \$12,006.86."); see also CP 347 (a copy of the check referred hereto as the "Settlement Payment"). Based on this accounting and voluntary payment, the parties entered a stipulated order dismissing the 2016 Lawsuit with prejudice after stating on the record that "Collins' account has been settled." CP 656-657 ¶3.

Suit was not filed again until 2019 when Collins failed to keep his account current for monthly assessments levied after the 2016 Lawsuit was dismissed. Rather than acknowledge the terms to which he agreed in February 2017, Collins is asserting through the present litigation that, based on his own internal accounting not previously shared with the Association, the \$12,006.86 Settlement Payment should have resulted in an \$11,310.00 credit on his account when he tendered it in 2017. CP 407 ¶22. Despite this self-serving affidavit being the only supporting evidence that the Settlement Payment should be

applied as a credit to assessments levied after February 2017 and in abrogation to the existence of the Payoff and resulting dismissal order, Division I concluded that there was "no agreement as to how the Association would apply the funds." Appendix A at 2. It also held that the "starting point" of the debt was an issue of material fact because there was "no admissible evidence in the record establishing that the balance on Collins' account was at least \$12,006.86 before he made the Settlement Payment." Appendix A at 9.

This conclusion overturned the holding of the trial court which ruled on reconsideration of the Association's summary judgment motion that "[a]ll of the uncertainties created by the multiple ledgers in this case are removed by Villa Marina's motion because the motion takes the facts most favorably to Mr. Collins on every disputed point." CP 707; Appendix C. Although there had been confusion as to how the Association's managing agent had applied the Settlement Payment differently from the itemization in the Payoff, the Association successfully

demonstrated that Collins received a windfall to the assessments that came due after the 2016 Lawsuit was dismissed based on what was being sought at summary judgment. CP 194-198 (the Association's managing agent's ledger demonstrating sporadic payments in 2017 & 2018 and a credit balance of \$421.20 in late August 2018 - the date after which the Association's current legal action seeks recovery); CP 221 ¶¶10-11 & CP 349-53 (summary ledgers demonstrating how, if just totaling the assessments levied and payments received after February 2017, a delinquency existed on Collins's account in late August 2018 when the managing agent's ledger demonstrated the \$421.20 windfall); CP 531-532 & 548-587 (summary ledgers demonstrating how, after applying Collins's post-settlement payments most favorably to him, he was sued for an amount less than what the Association could legally pursue).

Division I ruled against the Association based on this "starting point" issue, despite the majority of the parties'

briefing being dedicated towards Collins's insistence that the trial court improperly considered evidence on reconsideration. Collins asserted no authority that the Settlement Payment and dismissal order were not binding. The Association addressed the issue in its primary brief by referring Division I to *Le Bire v. Department of Labor & Indus*tries for the doctrines of claim and issue preclusion. 14 Wn.2d 407, 418 (1942).

Despite Collins not contesting the application of *Le Bire* and Division I not requesting oral argument, it ruled against the Association and distinguished *Le Bire* without citing any precedent. Appendix A at 10-12. It did so by noting how the facts in *Le Bire* involved a more detailed stipulated order than what was entered in the 2016 Lawsuit and how the application of the Settlement Payment to Collins's debt was not set forth in the stipulated order – despite the parties acknowledging in the order that the "account was settled" and that the case should be dismissed with prejudice. CP 656-657.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4). Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2), Division I's decision conflicts with Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals precedent as to claims and issue preclusion and what it means when an order dismisses a prior action "with prejudice." Under RAP 13.4(b)(4), this decision involves an issue of substantial public interest; namely, when a private settlement may be ignored in subsequent litigation regarding the same issue.

If left to stand, the Division I decision will allow a party to attack an agreed order of dismissal with prejudice years later under a different case, despite the order explicitly stating that the earlier dispute was "settled." It will further encourage debtors to challenge prior decisions to voluntarily pay a debt whenever it happens to suit them.

A. Review is necessary under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because Division I's decision discourages parties from entering private settlements, and undermines the finality of judgments based on such settlements.

Division I's refusal to consider the language of the stipulated order and related evidence, including the Payoff and Settlement Payment, necessitates review for the chilling effect the decision has on private settlements. In essence, Division I's decision requires the details of out-of-court settlements be made in court if the parties wish for a judgment based on a settlement to have any finality. Such a policy goes against Washington's preference for settlements.

1. Private settlements are strongly encouraged in Washington.

"Washington law strongly favors the public policy of settlement over litigation." *Am. Safety Cas. Ins. Co. v. City of Olympia*, 162 Wn.2d 762, 772 (2007) (sting citations omitted)).

[I]f litigants cannot assume the disclosures and representations of the opposing party are made in good faith, they will be reluctant to settle. Assurance of an adversary's good faith is particularly critical when parties are attempting to resolve a dispute amicably.

Hawkins v. EmpRes Healthcare Mgmt., LLC, 193 Wn. App. 84, 98 (2016) (citation omitted).

The parties settled the 2016 Lawsuit by way of the stipulated order which states as much. CP 656. Nonetheless, Division I's decision effectively rules the opposite and allows Collins to collaterally attack, and effectively undermine a judgment based on a previously stipulated to settlement.

2. Division I's decision fails to acknowledge the stipulated order is itself a settlement contract, with its terms subject to interpretation by extrinsic evidence.

A stipulation agreement signed and subscribed by the attorneys representing the parties is a contract and its construction is governed by the legal principles applicable to contracts.

Allstot v. Edwards, 114 Wn. App. 625, 636 (2002) (citing Riley Pleas, Inc. v. State, 88 Wash.2d 933, 937–38 (1977); CR 2A).

Division I erred by ignoring how the parties agreed that the "starting point" of the debt could not be prior to February 2017 when the stipulated order established that the "account was settled." Division I did not recognize the stipulated order as a "settlement agreement" with terms sufficient for a trier of

fact to reach but one reasonable conclusion after considering undisputed evidence on the record. *See* Appendix A at 2 (stating that "the record contains no signed settlement agreement" or agreement how the Settlement Payment would be applied). Hence, Division I concluded that there was "no admissible evidence on the record establishing that the balance on Collins' account was at least \$12,006.86 before he made the Settlement Payment. *Id.* at 9. This finding is both incorrect, and is an impediment to the enforceability of stipulations to settle.

The stipulations in the March 1, 2017 Agreed Order fall within the purview of CR 2A as a subscribed "consent between parties or attorneys in respect to the proceedings in a cause." Stipulated judgments are interpreted under the laws of contract.

A judgment by consent or stipulation of the parties is construed as a contract between them embodying the terms of the judgment. It excuses all prior errors and operates to end all controversy between the parties, within the scope of the judgment. In the absence of fraud, mistake, or want of jurisdiction, a judgment by consent will not be reviewed on appeal.

Wash. Asphalt Co. v. Harold Kaeser Co., 51 Wn.2d 89, 91 (1957); see also Condon v. Condon, 177 Wn.2d 150, 162 (2013).

The laws of contract interpretation leave but one understanding of what the parties meant by settling the account. "We generally give words in a contract their ordinary, usual, and popular meaning unless the entirety of the agreement clearly demonstrates a contrary intent." *Hearst Commc'ns, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co.*, 154 Wn.2d 493, 504 (2005). Extrinsic evidence and surrounding circumstances can be considered to "give[] meaning to words used in the contract" but not to "show an intention independent of the instrument" or "vary, contradict or modify the written word." *Hollis v. Garwall, Inc.*, 137 Wn.2d 683, 695 (1999) (citations omitted).

The ordinary definition of "settle" when it comes to a money dispute is:

To ascertain (a balance due, an amount owed, etc.) <to settle the amount due on the unclear account> ...

To pay (money that is owed); to liquidate (a debt) <she settled her accounts>

. . .

To end or resolve (an argument or disagreement, etc.); to bring to a conclusion (what has been disputed or uncertain) <they settled their dispute>

Black's Law Dictionary 1649 (11th ed. 2019). Here, Collins posits that he "was never behind on assessments" and then agreed to pay the \$12,006.86 as a business decision "to settle the lawsuit." CP 407. Despite agreeing that the balance owed was "ascertained" and paid (per the ordinary meaning of "settle"), he contradicts his stipulation and claims he actually prepaid thousands of dollars with his \$12,006.86 Settlement Payment for future assessments not even asserted in the litigation. *Id.* This nonsensical position essentially demands that the Association prove part of a claim that was settled, liquidated, ascertained, and resolved. But because Collins capitulated to the debt owed, there is nothing left to establish.

Division I reversed summary judgment based on Collins's claim that a trier of fact could conclude that the case was "settled" based on an internal set of accounting he

apparently concealed during the 2016 Lawsuit. CP 407 ¶22; Appendix A at 4 (referencing Collins's "own accounting of assessments" as a basis for denying summary judgment). By leaving this open as a question of fact, Division I ruled contrary to Washington law:

Where the parties have attached different meanings to a promise or agreement or a term thereof, it is interpreted in accordance with the meaning attached by one of them if at the time the agreement was made.

- (a) That party did not know of any different meaning attached by the other, and the other knew the meaning attached by the first party; or
- (b) That party had no reason to know of any different meaning attached by the other, and the other had reason to know the meaning attached by the first party.

Restatement (Second) of Contracts §201(2) (1981); *Berg v. Hudesman*, 115 Wash. 2d 657, 669 (1990) (adopting §201). Both subsections apply here.

There is no evidence on the record that the Association had any knowledge of or reason to believe that Collins, by tendering the Settlement Payment and executing the agreed order, intended his payment to be applied to some internal

accounting he maintained. See Lynott v. Nat'l Union Fire Ins. Co., 123 Wn.2d 678, 684 (1994) (stating that "[u]nilateral or subjective purposes and intentions about the meanings of what is written do not constitute evidence of the parties' intentions"); DePhillips v. Zolt Constr. Co., 136 Wn.2d 26, 32 (1998) (parties may not admit extrinsic evidence to contradict the plain meaning of an agreement); Go2Net, Inc. v. CI Host, Inc., 115 Wn. App. 73, 84-85 (2003). Collins knew what he was paying based on the Payoff and corresponding Settlement Payment, and the Association relied on his actions. CP 341-345 & 407. Allowing Collins to assert that his Settlement Payment was actually for future assessments to which he should be credited is equivalent to him writing in new terms to the agreement between the parties that only he knew about.

In sum, Division I's decision ignores the power of a private settlement that has resulted in a binding agreement that the parties "settled" the matter as subscribed by a stipulated judgment dismissing the lawsuit with prejudice. Division I's

decision permits a collateral attack on the finality of a valid judgment and discourages parties from similar settlements in the future, since it makes all such settlements unpredictable.

- B. Review is necessary under RAP 13.4(b)(1)&(2), because Division I's decision conflicts with its own precedent as well as this Court's with respect to claim and issue preclusion.
 - 1. Claim preclusion established the "starting balance" of the debt at issue and cannot be challenged simply because the accounting was not set forth in the stipulated order dismissing the prior litigation.

Claim preclusion (res judicata) bars re-litigation of a claim that has been determined by a final judgment. Emerson v. Dep't of Corr., 194 Wash. App. 617, 626 (2016). Res judicata applies to matters that were actually litigated and those that could have been raised, and in the exercise of reasonable diligence should have been raised, in the prior proceeding. Id. It is intended to prevent piecemeal litigation, ensure the finality of judgments, and promote judicial economy. Id.

a. The Association met the threshold determination of having a final judgment.

The threshold requirement of claim preclusion is a valid final judgment on the merits in a prior proceeding. *Emerson*, 194 Wash. App. at 626. A "final judgment on the merits" includes a grant of summary judgment, *id.*, a default judgment, *Lenzi v. Redland Ins. Co.*, 140 Wash. 2d 267, 282 (2000), a consent judgment, *Winton Motor Carriage Co. v. Blomberg*, 84 Wash. 451, 459 (1915), and/or a settlement release. *Knuth v. Beneficial Washington, Inc.*, 107 Wash. App. 727, 731 (2001).

This is because "on the merits" does not require actual litigation. It is sufficient that the parties might have had their suit disposed of in that manner if they had properly presented and managed their respective cases.

In re Diafos, 110 Wash. App. 758, 764 (2001).

It is undisputed that there is a valid final judgment on the merits in the 2016 Lawsuit. CP 657-657; CP 407 ¶21 (Collins admitting that he "made the business decision to settle the lawsuit.").

b. The Association meets all the elements for claim preclusion.

Review is needed in this case because Division I refused to apply claim preclusion, which bars the subsequent action where there is a concurrence of identity in the following respects: "(1) persons and parties; (2) cause of action; (3) subject matter; and (4) the quality of the persons for or against whom the claim is made." *Landry v. Luscher*, 95 Wn. App. 779, 783 (1999).

The persons and parties in both lawsuits are identical, and Collins has admitted that the quality of persons is identical. CP 642. Without going into significant detail in this petition, the cause of action and subject matter prongs are also satisfied.

To consider whether the causes of action are identical, we consider the following: (1) Would the second action destroy or impair rights or interests established in the first judgment? (2) Is the evidence presented in the two actions substantially the same? (3) Do the two suits involve infringement of the same right? (4) Do the two suits arise out of the same nucleus of facts?

Landry, 95 Wn. App. At 784. See also Hayes v. City of Seattle, 131 Wash. 2d 706, 713 (1997).

The subject matter in this case is the same as the prior litigation; i.e., how much Collins owed the Association prior to entry of the March 1, 2017 dismissal order. The stipulated order dismissing the 2016 Lawsuit was predicated upon the payment of the Settlement Payment as admitted to by Collins. The parties would not have dismissed the lawsuit without it, CP 341 & 656, and did so with prejudice after the Association received the payment. The 2016 Lawsuit was filed to recover all assessments "which become due before entry of judgment..." CP 133-134. Judgment was entered on March 1, 2017. CP 656-657. The \$12,006.86 was tendered in February "to settle the lawsuit." CP 407. The application of all four factors is straightforward and supports identity of subject matter as well as cause of action.

Failing to apply claim preclusion here has destroyed the Association's rights and the interests established in the first final order. By *sua sponte* distinguishing *Le Bire*, Appendix A

at 10, Division I has contradicted a myriad of its own precedent as well as this Court's, to which this petition now turns.

2. The trial court properly granted summary judgment via claim preclusion; Division I erred by distinguishing *Le Bire*.

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