FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/13/2022 1:52 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 100492-3

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

VILLA MARINA ASSOCIATION OF APARTMENT OWNERS,

Petitioner,

v.

JOHN E. COLLINS, Jr., a/k/a JAKE E. COLLINS, Jr.,

Respondent.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Ha Thu Dao, WSBA# 21793 Christina L. Henry, WSBA

Grand Central Law, PLLC #31273

c/o 10728 16th Ave SW Henry & DeGraaff, PS

Seattle, WA 98146-2001 119 First Ave South, Ste 500

Tel# (727) 269-9334 Seattle, WA 98104 Email: hadaojd@gmail.com Tel# 206-330-0595

Fax# 1-206-440-7609

Counsel for Respondent Email: chenry@hdm-legal.com

Counsel for Respondent

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

The Association's insistence that the Stipulation bars Collins from demanding an accurate accounting of his account, including an ascertainable starting point or balance, has no support in the law. Washington follows the objective manifestation theory of contracts, whereupon the court determines the intent of the parties based on the objective manifestations of the agreement, rather than any unexpressed subjective intent of the parties. Hearst Commc'ns, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co., 154 Wn.2d 493, 503, 115 P.3d 262 (2005); J.W. Seavey Hop Corp. v. Pollock, 20 Wn.2d 337, 349, 147 P.2d 310 (1944) ("It is the duty of the court to declare the meaning of what is written, and not what was intended to be written."); Evans & Son, Inc. v. City of Yakima, 136 Wn. App. 471, 479, 149 P.3d 691 (2006) (holding that there was a

genuine issue of material fact over whether the parties agreed on all material terms); *Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins. Co. v. Watson*, 120 Wn.2d 178, 190, 840 P.2d 851 (1992) (considering whether there was mutual mistake by the parties). If the Association subjectively believed or intended for the Stipulation to conclusively zero out Collins' account on March 1, 2017, such belief or intent is irrelevant to the Court's determination of the scope of the Stipulation. *Hearst Commc'ns, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co.*, 154 Wn.2d 493, 503-504, 115 P.3d 262 (2005); *Condon v. Condon*, 177 Wn.1d 150, 198 P.3d 86 (2013).

Taking the phrase "Defendant Collins' account has been settled" at its literal meaning, the reader would have to conclude that the balance right before the Settlement Payment is the same as the Settlement Payment, so that the application of the Settlement Payment would zero out the account, as of a certain date. According to the Association's agent, Laura Lotz, her company, NOVA, only began to manage the Association on October 1, 2018, and the record actually came from the

Copeland Group, the former company. Thereafter, NOVA "triaged" Copeland's record with its own accounting system "to continue levying assessments and crediting all payments received." Lotz was not able to attest to the balance right before the Settlement Payment was made by Collins; she could not attest that receipt of the Settlement Payment actually zeroed out Collins' account. To the contrary, Lotz pointed to the prior management company's Statement of Account, Exhibit B to her Declaration, which contains entries during the period between September 30, 2016 and October 15, 2018, as proof (CP 181-185). The Copeland's Statement of Account shows a balance of \$9,994.59, just before the Settlement Payment was applied (CP) 193-198). It shows that the Settlement Payment did not zero out the account but credited Collins with \$2,012.27 (CP 193).

The Association's own evidence belies its contention that the Stipulation constituted a judgment on the merit; the Stipulation is nothing more than an agreement to dismiss the 2016 litigation for an unspecified amount. *State ex rel*.

Hamilton v. Cohn, 1 Wn.2d 54 (1939) ("A judgment is not conclusive, however, on any point or question which, from the nature of the cause, the form of the action, or the character of the pleadings, could not have been adjudicated in the action in which it was rendered, nor as to any matter which must necessarily have been excluded from consideration."); Bellingham Cmty. Hotel v. Whatcom County, 12 Wn.2d 237, 121 P.2d 335 (1942) (A judgment declaring the validity or invalidity of city's local improvement assessments is not res judicata upon a subsequent action pertaining to the reassessment of the same property). While it is true that courts look with favor on compromise, the compromise must be a result of a mutual agreement. Kibler v. Frank L. Garrett & Sons, Inc., 73 Wn.2d 523, 439 P.2d 416 (1968). In this case, there was no evidence that the parties mutually agreed upon the balance before, and after, the Settlement Payment. In addition to the Association's inability to conclusively establish the balance before and after Collins' Settlement Payment, Collins

submitted evidence that he did not owe anything, but had a substantial credit on his account after he made the Settlement Payment in February of 2017 (CP 405-471).

Where the Stipulation is silent on the meaning of the Collins account being "settled" and where the amount stipulated upon by the parties is not revealed by the record, the Court of Appeal correctly held that the Stipulation does not establish the amount that Collins owed just before he made the Settlement Payment in the amount of \$12,006.86, and the applicable balance, as of the time the Settlement Payment was made, could not be read into the Stipulation as asserted by the Association. This is because "[i]t is the duty of the court to declare the meaning of what is written, and not what was intended to be written." U.S. Life Credit Life Ins. Co. v. Williams, 129 Wn.2d 565, 571, 919 P.2d 594 (1996) (quoting Berg v. Hudesman, 115 Wn.2d 657, 669, 801 P.2d 222 (1990)). When a court order incorporates a stipulation between parties, the meaning of the order is the same as the meaning objectively manifested by the parties when they formed the agreement.

Martinez v. Kitsap Public Servs., 94 Wn. App. 935, 942 (1999).

The Association's continuing effort to shore up the evidentiary problem proved unsuccessful even with additional submission of proof, including additional declarations and ledgers created by Rachel Burkember, Esq. (CP 219-391). As the lawyer for the Association, Burkemper attested that she is familiar with her own law firm's business records, not the Association's records, or NOVA's records, or the Copeland Group's records. Due to her obvious lack of the foundational records, Burkemper similarly could not pinpoint the effective date of the calculation of the account delinquency or the amount that the Association used to calculate what Collins owed for purpose of summary judgment. She opined, "it appeared that the managing agent had applied the payment found in Exhibit E in a manner that benefited Mr. Collins by hundreds of dollars" but could not say so as a matter of fact (CP 221). Burkemper stated that she "created a summary ledger beginning with the

last time Mr. Collins was current on his assessments according to the Association's record. That was August 17, 2018 . . . By way of demonstration, attached as Exhibit F is a summary ledger that tracks just the assessments and payments showing on the Association's accounting records." (CP 221-222).

Burkemper's summary ledger is referenced as "Demonstrative summary ledger showing assessments and payments from prior litigation to beginning date on Association's summary ledger used to calculate summary judgment amount." (CP 349-350). It starts with entries dated March 1, 2017, and therefore does not provide the balance just before the Association applied the Settlement Payment (CP) 349-350). Significantly however, where the Statement of the Account issued by the Copeland Group, shows a *credit* balance of \$200 on April 1, 2017 (CP 238), Burkemper's summary ledger shows a *debit* account balance in the amount of \$1,046.66, for the same date of April 1, 2017 (CP349). This means the Association's evidence suffers from its own

inconsistencies, in addition to being contradicted by Collins' evidence. Given the quantity and the quality of the Association's proof, it cannot be said that the Association met its initial burden of showing the lack of a genuine issue of material fact.

In his opposition to the Association's motion for summary judgment, Collins' Declaration was supported by his own accounting and an analysis of the Associations' ledgers, Holly Hanson, a Certified Public Accountant, who discussed the Association's ledgers at length and pointing out numerous inconsistencies (CP 455-459). Collins detailed various payments that he made, provided canceled checks and correspondence to show that the Association and their lawyers engaged in a deliberate scheme to manipulate his payments in order to increase the interests and fees, including attorney's fees, on his account. Collins declared that he made a business decision to pay \$12,006.86 to stop the clock on attorney's fees only (CP 405-411). Collins asserted that had all of his payments been applied correctly, he would be due a credit of \$11,310.00 after he had made this Settlement Payment (CP407).

Even though the Association argues that Collins should not be allowed to go beyond March 1, 2017, to establish the starting balance, the Association's Statement of Account contains entries as far back as September 30, 2016 – eighteen months prior to the Settlement Payment. The Association also addressed some of Collins' complaints, in particular, the application of two checks he made in 2016. Admitting to having to adjust the account to reflect these two checks, Burkemper nevertheless downplayed the accounting deficiency, stating, "it seems hard to maintain that those payments, even if received and deposited, would have had any effect on the merits of the defense other than a minor reduction in interest." (CP 483-484). Yet, in making the adjustments, the Association conceded that the starting point of the calculation of the delinquency amount for the lawsuit, is not limited to April 1, 2017, but much earlier. By making concession about the

misapplication of certain payments made by Collins in 2016, the Association materially contributed to the error and should not be allowed to complaint about it on appeal. *In re*Dependency of A.L.K, 196 Wn.2d 686, 694-695, 478 P.3d 63 (2020).

Division I struggled with the same problem that the trial court faced; the lack of a solid beginning balance for the calculation of the purported delinquency of Collins' account:

The Association provided a declaration from Laura Lotz, its management company's community association manager, attaching and authenticating the Association's historical ledgers. But these ledgers date back to only September 2016, and they do not show an account balance of \$12,006.86 as of the end of February 2017. In fact, one ledger shows a credit of \$2,012.27 after receiving the Settlement Payment. Burkemper declared that her firm did not bill the Association for some of the fees included in the January 2017 payoff statement until March 2017. But Burkemper's declaration is not sufficient to establish the accuracy of the Association's underlying accounting.

Villa Marina Ass'n of Apt. Owners v. Collins, 2021 Wash.App. LEXIS 2356, n. 4, emphasis added.

As counsel for the Association, Burkemper did not have the requisite personal knowledge about any of the payments made by Collins and how they were applied; she was not an employee of the management company that kept the Association's books. Burkemper's declarations and statements are unsupported conclusory statements that and cannot be relied upon to prove the nonexistence of issues of fact. ER 901; SentinelC3, Inc. v. Hunt, 181 Wn.2d 127, 141, 331 P.3d 40 (2014). Moreover, because Collins vigorously contested the amount demanded by the Association, the advocate-witness rule calls into doubt testimony provided by Burkemper about the ledgers she prepared, the accounting she rendered, and the substance and the weight of such evidence, which is the controversy between her client, the Association, and Collins. RPC 3.7(a); State v. Lindsay, 10 Wn.2d 423, 437, 326 P.3d 125 (2014) (quoting *United States v. Prantil*, 764 F.2d 548, 552-53 (9th Cir. 1985)).

The manner in which the Association's lawyers reconstituted the evidence in the summary judgment proceeding and motion for reconsideration is astounding but the logic behind their conduct is even more bizarre. Never mind that the sausage making process of the evidence has done violence to the summary judgment process; Burkemper expressed that the new amount requested at reconsideration is the Association's "right to charge \$5,333.52 less than what actually requested at summary judgment." She boldly asserted that where the trial court was concerned the issue being "a few hundred one way or the other" her summary ledgers "demonstrate exactly which way – that the Defendant received a windfall in excess of \$5,000." Clearly, nothing is exact about a discrepancy of over \$5,000 between the initial accounting, and the re-calculation, both of which Burkemper was involved in.

Burkemper opined that "[w]hat we have here is a defendant who is fighting to get past summary judgment to hopefully force a creditor into a settlement that involves

waiving even more amounts rightfully owed" and that the Association "should not be expected to incur further useless rounds of settlement discussion or a trial for two forensic accountants to produce the very same evidence set forth at summary judgment and as fleshed out in this brief." (CP 523-530). Nothing could be further from the truth; Jake Collins is certain that the delinquency was manufactured and he is willing to spend the resources to prove it at trial. It would make sense to have experts who do not have interest in the outcome of the case, like Burkemper and her law firm, provide testimony about the math.

Finally, there is no threat that Division I's unpublished opinion in this case "if left to stand, will allow a party to attack an agreed order of dismissal without prejudice years later under a different case" as urged by the Association. Petition, p. 8.

Unpublished opinions of the courts of appeals have no precedential value and cannot be cited as authority under Washington law. *In re Marriage of Schweitzer*, 132 Wn.2d 318,

937 P.2d 1062 (1997); *Yousoufian v. Office of Ron Sims*, 168 Wn.2d 444, 229 P.3d 735 (2010). Therefore, the analysis and conclusions of Division I are applicable to this case and affect only the parties in this litigation.

III. THERE IS NO SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST IN THIS CASE WARRANTING REVIEW

This Court does not grant review absent a constitutional issue or a substantial public interest. *In re Pendency of P.H.V.S.*, 389 P.3d 460 (2015) ("To obtain this court's review, a parent must show that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with a decision of this court or with another Court of Appeals decision, or that he or she is raising a significant constitutional question or an issue of substantial public interest [in the dependency proceeding]"); *In re Pers. Restraint of Williams*, 2021 Wash. LEXIS 159 (Feb. 3, 2021) (persons confined by DOC while COVID-19 ravages their facility claim such confinement violates the prohibition against cruel punishment under article I, section 14 of the Washington Constitution and

their petition implicates significant constitutional questions and an issue of substantial public interest worth of the Supreme Court review); *In re Adoption of T.A.W.*, 387 P.3d 636 (2016) (interpreting statute requiring application of the federal Indian Child Welfare Act and a parallel state statute that a party seeking to terminate parental rights to an Indian child must satisfy the court that "active efforts have been made to provide remedial services and rehabilitative programs designed to prevent the breakup of the Indian family and that these efforts have proved unsuccessful."); State v. Douty, 92 Wn.2d 930 (1979) (the scope of the applicability of a newly enacted statute addressing the large and growing problem of children out born out of wedlock is a significant public interest warranting discretionary review); Dix v. ICT Group, Inc., 160 Wn.2d 826 (2007) (a forum selection clause that seriously impairs the plaintiff's ability to go forward on a claim of small value, implicating the importance of the private right of action to enforce the Consumer Protection Act for the protection of all

the citizens of the state, is a substantial public interest warranting review).

The foregoing discussion should convince the Court to deny review as there is no worthy public interest being identified by the Association. This case is simply about how the Respondent is entitled to have an accurate mathematical calculation of the alleged delinquency of his account, which requires a starting point, *i.e.*, an account balance on a date certain, before his condominium Association could foreclose upon his real property.

IV. CONCLUSION

For the factual reasons and legal citations set forth in this Response, John "Jake" E. Collins, Jr., respectfully requests the Court to deny review.